
 

Board of Trustees 
             Open Session 

             Tuesday, 
               January 24, 2016 

             4 P.M. 
              Liberty Campus 

         Mini Conference Center 
 
 



                   
 

BALTIMORE CITY COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
 

Board of Trustees 
 

Dr. S. Todd Yeary, Chair 
 

Dr. Rosemary Gillett-Karam, Vice Chair  

Dr. Donald A. Gabriel 

Mr. Jay Hutchins 

 Ms. Pamela Paulk 

Dr. Mary E. Owens Southall 

 Ms. Maria Harris Tildon 

Ms. Olayeni Popoola, Student Trustee 
 

 

  



                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

TAB 1 



BALTIMORE CITY COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

UNAPPROVED OPEN SESSION AGENDA 
Tuesday, January 24, 2017, 4 p.m. 

Liberty Campus 
Mini Conference Center 

I. CALL TO ORDER (Dr. S. Todd Yeary, Chair) 

II. ADOPTION OF AGENDA
Approval of the, January 24, 2017 Agenda……….…….….…………..……..TAB 1

III. BOARD ACTIONS/CONSENT AGENDA (All actions, requiring a vote).
A. Approval of the November 22, 2016 Minutes……….…..…..……………..TAB 2
B. College Contracts……………………………………………………………..TAB 3
C. Student Government Association……………………………………….......TAB 4 
D. AFSCME Local # 1870 at BCCC (Ms. Charlene Gray, President)………TAB 5
E. Faculty Senate (Mr. Edward Ennels)…..…………………………………...TAB 6

Action: Move to approve the Board Actions/Consent Agenda 

IV. PUBLIC PRESENTATIONS……………………………………………………..TAB 7

V. COLLEGE POLICIES…………………………………………………………….TAB 8 

VI. NEW BUSINESS………………………………………………………………….TAB 9
A. Sabbatical Leave (Dr. Tonja Ringgold)……………………….………..(ACTION)

VII. PRESIDENT’S REPORT (Dr. Gordon F. May, President)…………………TAB 10
A. Updates     (INFORMATION) 
 Enrollment Report (Dr. Marguerite Weber, Vice President of Student Affairs)

B. Active Search Listing………………………………………………………..TAB 11 
   (INFORMATION) 

VIII. MOTION FOR ADJOURNMENT
THE CLOSED SESSION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES IS DESIGNED TO 
DISCUSS PERSONNEL ISSUES; PENDING PURCHASE OF PROPERTY FOR THE 
FUTURE NEEDS OF THE COLLEGE; AND TO OBTAIN LEGAL ADVICE. 

IX. NEXT MEETING: Tuesday, February 28, 2017, Mini Conference Center, Liberty
Campus, 2901 Liberty Heights Avenue, Baltimore, MD 21215.

Page 1 of 1 Back to Top 
 



 

TAB 2 



Page 1 of 7 

   BALTIMORE CITY COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
        BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

UNAPPROVED OPEN SESSION MINUTES 
  NOVEMBER 22, 2016  4 p.m. 

Liberty Campus 
Mini Conference Center 

Board Members Present: Dr. S. Todd Yeary, Dr. Mary Owens Southall, Dr. Donald 
Gabriel (via conference call), Ms. Maria Harris Tildon, Ms. Pamela Paulk, Mr. Jay 
Hutchins and Ms. Olayeni Popoola. 

Board Members Absent: Dr. Rosemary Gillett-Karam (via Conference Call), 

I. Dr. Yeary opened the meeting with the acknowledgement of the new Student 
Trustee, Ms. Olayeni Popoola.  Ms. Popoola recognized and thanked peer student 
leaders who attended the National Student Leadership Conference, Mr. Devone 
Delly, SGA President, Mr. Mohammed Hussain, SGA VP, Ms. Patricia Best, 
Secretary of Computer Technology Program, Mr. Phillip Mensah, SGA Senator/PTK 
President, Ms. Jennifer Brown, SGA Treasurer, and Ms. Breanna Jennings. 
Acknowledgements and thanks to the Student Life staff, Mr. Jeff White and Ms. 
Valerie Grays. 

Dr. Yeary asked that the student leaders introduced themselves including a brief 
statement of their majors and their plans for furthering their education. Ms. Grays 
shared that the BCCC students that attended the NSLC won an award for the 
longest, consistent school to attend NSLC for the past 10 years and the SGA 
President won the talent contest.   

II. BOARD ACTIONS/CONSENT AGENDA (All Actions requiring a vote.)

A. Adoption of the November 22, 2016 Agenda 
B. Approval of the October 25, 2016 Minutes 
C. College Contracts – No College Contracts 
D. Student Government Association 
E. AFSCME Local # 1870 at BCCC (Ms. Charlene Gray, President) 
F. Faculty Senate (Mr. Edward Ennels) 

Action:  The Board unanimously voted and approved tabs 1 through 6 of Board 
  Actions/Consent Agenda. 

BOARD AGENDA 
TAB 2 – INFORMATION 
NOVEMBER 22, 2016 



Page 2 of 7 

III. Public Presentations

A. Dr. May acknowledged VP Calvin Harris for presentation of the Finance 
Report for the first quarter for the College, WBJC, and Bookstore. 

VP Harris reported that; 

 In regards to the 2017 spending reduction, the State Board of Public
Works approved an $82 million budgetary spending reduction. Of that
total, BCCC is required to reduce spending by $750,000.

 Fund balance is not expected to be significant relief for any financial
challenges. With few exceptions, operating budgetary funds will have
to be the primary funding source to support the College.

Board Questions: 

Dr. Gabriel  

 Are all of the positions filled in the B & F area?
o All but one position has been filled.

 Automobile/Boat donations, have we made any money from this type of
donations?
o The radio station implemented a program of this type and have

received some donations. The college has not implemented a
program of this type.  At present, VP Harris was not certain as to
the number of vehicles and/or boats that have been donated to
WBRC.  All donations were handled via the BCCC Foundation
office.

Dr. Yeary 

 In regards to the colleges spending are there plans to offset the
college’s deficit?

o Adjustments vary by area and we have made some hard
adjustments to travel and equipment purchasing. We strongly
encourage each division to stay within the budget that was
allotted to them in the designated areas/objects.

 In regards to enrollment, do you anticipate that this deficit may require
the Boards consideration in regards to tuition, fees, or any other items
in the near term?

o We have built in some soft enrollment numbers in anticipation of
budget adjustments; however, this question cannot be
completely answered due to the timing of the year. We will try to
consider all and any alternatives that can be considered.



Page 3 of 7 

**The full financial report can be reviewed under Tab 7. 

B. Mission and Vision Statements (ACTION) 

Dr. May introduced Dr. Nassim Ebrahimi to report on the revised Mission and 
Vision Statement and the Strategic Plan. 

Mission and Vision Revision – Action Item 

o Draft statements of the drafted mission and vision statements were
shared with faculty and staff at the Fall Community Forum for
feedback to enhance the current statement.  The feedback was then
shared with the Strategic Planning Council (SPC) and the College
Wide Assessment Council (CWAC).   The councils drafted mission
and vision statements to reflect the feedback that was received and
then shared with the Executive Committee of the SPC as well as
BCCC students.

Final Draft Mission Statement: 
Baltimore City Community College provides quality, 
affordable, and accessible education serving a 
diverse population, changing lives, and building 
communities. 

Final Draft Vision Statement: 
Baltimore City Community College is an innovator in 
providing quality career pathways and educational 
opportunities for a diverse population of learners to 
meet the challenges of an ever-changing competitive 
workforce and environment. 

The feedback received resulted in the following proposed 
statements: 

Proposed Mission Statement: 
Baltimore City Community College provides quality, 
affordable, and accessible education meeting the 
professional and personal goals of a diverse 
population, changing lives, and building 
communities. 

Proposed Vision Statement: 
Baltimore City Community College is an innovator in 
providing quality career pathways and educational 
opportunities for a diverse population of learners to 



Page 4 of 7 

exceed the challenges of an ever-changing 
competitive workforce and environment. 

ACTION: The Board unanimously approved the revisions of the mission and 
 vision statements. 

Strategic Plan Report - Information 

VP Ebrahimi reported on the  
FY 2016 Year-End Summary 

Goal 1 – Student Success 

The measures for the four objectives related to Student Success (Goal 1) 
are all 85% or more to target, with five showing an increase from FY 2015. 
Please note, FY 2018 targets for three of the measures were adjusted to 
align with the updated and Board-approved Performance Accountability 
Report benchmarks. 

Goal 2 – Community, Business and Industry and Education Partnerships 

One of the three measures for the 5 objectives related to Community, 
Business and Industry and Education Partnerships (Goal 2) has met the 
FY 2018 target. Additionally, partnerships have increased over 70%. 

Goal 3 – Institutional Sustainability 

The six objectives related to Institutional Sustainability (Goal 3) continue to 
be an area of emphasis for the College. The refreshed Strategic 
Enrollment Management and Retention Plan, new Facilities Master Plan, 
and ongoing professional development efforts exemplify the College’s  
commitment to continued improvement. 

Goal 4 – Technology 

Nearly all of the measures for the four objectives related to Technology 
(Goal 4) have increased from FY 2015, with two exceeding the FY 2018 
target. 

Trustee Tildon inquired regarding sustainability and climate survey data.  VP Ebrahimi 
responded that she will require assistance in this area as the instruments used from a 
third party skewed the results reflected on the scorecards included in this report. 

Dr. Yeary inquired as to what the impact could be as a result of the information 
submitted to the JCR Team for their report.  VP Ebrahimi responded that our report 
needs to stand alone as well as the JCR’s report. 



Page 5 of 7 

Trustee Hutchins inquired as to if the targets and benchmarks were either good or bad.  
VP Ebrahimi responded that some targets/benchmarking will be met before others; 
however, it will serve as a template for future strategic planning.  

IV.PRESIDENT’S REPORT * 

Dr. May stated that his report will stand alone as included in the book.  However, 
he did want to share information that was not included in his report. 

 An articulation agreement was signed with UB in a ceremony held on
November 21, 2016 with President Kurt Schmoke for BCCC graduates to
transfer to UB as juniors.

 Participated on November 10, 2016 Science Symposium and November
12, 2016 STEM Community Day. Both were very special events
that showcased our BCCC students.

 BCCC was recognized by Maryland Online as the leading online
community colleges in the state.

*Please see the November 22, 2016, Board Book for the full President’s Report.

In addition to the information found in the President’s Report 

UPDATES 
A. Enrollment 

Dr. Marguerite Weber presented the Enrollment Report. 

Dr. Weber stated that the enrollment from last fall was down about 6 
percent.   

Dr. Yeary inquired as to what contributes to the enrollment decline? Dr. 
Weber responded that she is looking at patterns and the melt (students 
that stated that they would enroll but did not), to gauge and develop 
strategies that meet the students’ needs to ensure that students enroll.  
The melt average is about 267 students who did not enroll.   

Dr. Weber stated that as we review patterns of the melt we will be able to 
close the gap and increase enrollment.  Melt also results in students finding 
programs at other institutions, poor customer service, career pathways. 

 Dr. Southall inquired as to if the students that did not enroll were contacted 
to establish why they did not enroll.  Ms. Rochester responded that 
communication with these students are done.  Dr. Southall asked if these 
were personal calls or robo calls.  Ms. Rochester responded that both 



Page 6 of 7 

methods were used. 

B.  Middle States Update Report 

Dr. Ringgold reported that the Middle States Commission accepted the 
Monitoring report and the next evaluation is scheduled for 2023-2024. 

C. Active Search List 

Board Chair Yeary stated that the Active Search List as information provided 
in the Board Book. 

Closing Remarks: 

I. MOTION FOR ADJOURNMENT 
   The Board of Trustees meeting adjourned at 5:11 p.m. 

IX. NEXT MEETING
November 22, 2016, Liberty Heights Campus, Mini Conference Center 

ATTENDANCE: 
Dr. Gordon F. May, President 

BCCC Staff Present: 

Ola Akinkuowd, Nicole Becketts, Vanessa Bell, Linda Benjamin, Elena 
Berrocal, Vera Brooks, Leslie Brown, Maria Cazabon, Daniel Coleman, Keziah 
Colon, Deneen Dangerfield, Nassim Ebrahimi, Edward Ennels, Charlene Gray, 
Nana Gyesie, Adaria Hathaway, Eileen Hawkins, Kemberly Henderson, 
Dorothy Holley, Shayla Hunter, Joseph M. Hutchins, Bob Iweha, David Xudong 
Jin, Shelly King, Brian O’Connell, Scott Olden, Gregory Mason, Nemeka 
Mason, John T. McCoy, III., Karen Mobley, Shaunta Rao,Sylvia Rochester, 
Khadijat Sanusi, Daviedra Sauldsberry, Benita Scott, Sheila Scott, Sabina 
Silkworth, Daphne Snowden, Chardai Stokes, Chima Ugah, Tom Wamalwa, 
Dennis Weeks, Jeff White,  Brenda Wiley, Michelle Williams, Leonard Willis, 
Juanita Wingo, Diana Zilberman,  

 Others Present: 
Phillip Mensah – SGA 
Breanna Jennings  
Michael Scott  
Patricia Best 
Jennifer Brown 
Mohammed Hussain – VP SGA 
Devone Delly – President SGA 



Page 7 of 7 

CLOSED SESSION 

The Board voted unanimously, under the Open Meeting Act, State Government 
Article, and Section 10-508, to convene in Closed Session on November 22, 2016, in 
the President’s Conference Room to discuss real estate, personnel and to obtain legal 
advice. 
*Full report on file in the President’s Office

Respectfully submitted, 

Gordon F. May, PhD 
President/CEO 

Back to Top 



TAB 3 



NO COLLEGE 
CONTRACTS 

BOARD AGENDA 
TAB 3 – INFORMATION 
JANUARY 24, 2017 

Back to Top 



TAB 4 



Page 1 of 1 

Baltimore City Community College 
   Student Government Association 
     January 2017 Board Report 

December 7, 2016 - Guest Author Series - The Bard Library/ Book Store Author’s 
Series in conjunction with the Office of Student Life and Engagement and the Student 
Government Association welcomed guest author Joseph McCray, of the novel 
“Valuable”. Mr. McCray, a Baltimore native, discussed his inspirational book on 
overcoming drug addiction. He passionately believes that each addict's (substance 
user) life is valuable and encourages the addict (substance user) to recognize his or her 
value.  The program was held in the Student Affairs Atrium.  

December 8, 2016 - Holiday Expo and Holidays around the World Display - the Office 
of Student Life and Engagement and the Student Government Association sponsored a 
day of holiday cultural awareness with poster displays created by the various student 
clubs and organizations. The day also included tables of local vendors selling their 
products just in time for the holiday season.   

December 9, 2016 - Annual Kwanzaa Celebration - the Office of Student Life and 
Engagement, the Anthropology and Sociology Club, History Club, Education, Social and 
Behavioral Sciences Department and the Student Government Association held its 
annual Kwanzaa Event. Guest performers were Mr. Charles Dugger and the Lumalali 
Garifuna Drummers. The event was attended by 68 guests including students, faculty, 
staff and the local community. The event was held in the Student Café. 
Clubs and Orgs. 

December 5, 2016 - PTK Induction - The Phi Theta Kappa Fall induction was held in 
the auditorium of the West Pavilion. More than 50 guests attended this special induction 
and recognition of BCCC’s students for their outstanding academic achievements. 

December 8, 2016 - Computer Repair and Maintaining Your Computer Workshop - The 
Computer Technology Club sponsored a workshop on repairing and maintaining your 
computer. The guest presenter was Gurnish (Gary) Singh, owner of OmniTech Care.  
He has a wealth of experience in the computer repair business.  Participants were able 
to bring their laptops for a self tune-up. 

December 19, 2016 - Ascenders Club End of Year Social - The Ascenders Club held its 
annual End of Year Social in the Tranquility Lounge. Faculty, staff and students had an 
opportunity to socialize and celebrate the club’s successes of the fall semester. 

BOARD AGENDA 
TAB 4 – INFORMATION 
JANUARY 24, 2017 



TAB 5 



Submitted on January 9th, 2017 by  Charlene Gray 

AFSCME Local 1870 Presentation to the BCCC Board of Trustees 
Tuesday, January 24, 2017 

1. UNION LEADERSHIP WILL OFFER MOU TRAINING FOR PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

CREDITS.  Information on such MOU Training workshops will be sent out through HR’s Professional

Development Coordinator so that all interested Bargaining Unit employees can sign up to participate.

2. ESSENTIAL PERSONNEL: Every year during the winter break and the winter months we have to fight

for employees to get paid for the holiday along with essential personnel being called to come in to clean the

campus. We are hoping this year, 2017, the College will have in place an efficient process to pay essential

personnel staff correctly when they are called to remove snow/ice during closure due to inclement weather.

3. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION: We contacted HR recently about confusion in certain divisions of the

College about 6-month evaluation of Bargaining Unit employees in January and February 2017. It would be an

MOU violation unless it is specific instance where the employee is on a Performance Improvement Plan (PIP).

Our alerting HR’s Labor-Relations Specialist resulted in timely intervention and clarification to supervisors so

that a crisis situation was avoided. Currently, Bargaining Unit employees are evaluated once annually (due by

end-June).

4. BCCC HOLIDAY CALENDAR: The BCCC holiday calendar is incorrect for 2017 and 2018 the

administrative leave day for which we get three every year one day is missing during the winter break. The

calendar needs to be corrected and updated to reflect the approved leave dates.

BOARD AGENDA
TAB 5 - INFORMATION
JANUARY 24, 2017



TAB 6 



Baltimore City Community College 
Report of the Faculty Senate to the Board of Trustees 

January 24, 2017 

The Faculty Senate leadership is pleased to report productive meetings over the course of the 
Fall 2016 Semester with Dr. Gordon May, President of BCCC; Dr. Tonja Ringgold, Vice 
President of Academic Affairs; Mr. Calvin Harris, Vice President for Business and Finance; Mr. 
Byran Perry, Chief of Staff and General Counsel to the College. Significant Senate concerns 
have been addressed. The Faculty Senate Executive Committee prioritized its work through an 
inclusive process of strategic planning aligned with clear goals and objectives established by the 
Faculty Senate and the College.  

The Senate Executive Committee has engaged the faculty in ongoing discussions regarding on a 
number of ongoing key issues throughout the Fall 2016 Semester.  I have updated Dr. Ringgold 
and Dr. May on key issues of the Faculty Senate as expressed in my monthly Faculty Senate 
President’s Report to the SEC. All issues are being resolved at the Vice President of Academic 
Affairs level. I commended the President on a successful College Wide Forum on November 16, 
2016 where I was included as a panel member along with the President’s staff to speak to the 
college faculty and staff about the JCR status, process, and next steps. The subsequent College-
wide forum/JCR Listening on December 19, 2016 from 1:30pm to 2:30pm was well attended and 
very informative. In my next meeting with Dr. May, I will be sure to address the following issues 
raised by the SEC concerning the Joint Chairmen’s Report: 

• A clear list of Pro’s and Con’s regarding merging with the University System of
Maryland.

• A clear understanding of what it means to merge with the University System of
Maryland.

• What changes do we need to make as an institution if the College does not merge with
the University System of Maryland?

Since my last report out to the Board in November, the Faculty Senate has addressed the 
following issues 

21 vs. 26 Pay for Faculty 
The College would like to eliminate the choice for new faculty to choose the 21 pay option while 
also converting the current 21 pay faculty to the 26 pay option. By having all employees being 
paid on the same schedule, the College eliminates the reporting issue of other agencies, health 
benefits are paid over 24 pay periods, errors are reduced from manual adjustments to reports and 
the College would avoid any complications for these employees  associated with merging into 
the State’s HR system such as incorrect or missing payrolls. Should the college decide to move 
forward with the proposal above, it would not take effect until the beginning of the Fall 2017 
Semester.  

Out of 108 faculty there are 11 faculty are currently opting for the 21 pay. I have emailed all 11 
faculty regarding this issue and received responses from 6, which I complied in one document 

Page 1 of 3 

BOARD AGENDA 
TAB 6-INFORMATION 
JANUARY 24, 2017 



and forwarded to Dr. Ringgold and Mrs. Sabina Silkworth, BCCC Controller. The Senate 
Executive Committee chose not to issue a formal statement regarding the issues. 
 
Pro-rate Contract for Classes with Low Enrollment 
I asked Dr. Ringgold to look into the possibility of offering adjunct faculty a pro-rated contract 
for low enrolled courses that students need to graduate that cannot be merged with another 
course or offered as an independent study.  
 
Difficulty in Hiring New Faculty 
There is an issue with hiring new faculty as assistant professor because the salary is below what 
other colleges offer for the same position. I asked Dr. Ringgold if there was anyway offer a 
salary range instead of a fix salary and she said no. The salary advertised is non-negotiable. I will 
continue to push for a comprehensive salary study for faculty so that we get the pay we deserve 
and can attain highly qualified faculty to fill new positions. 
 
Program Coordinator Contract and Evaluation Rubric 
We are in the final stages of drafting an Academic Program Coordinator Contract and Evaluation 
Matrix. This document was a mandate from our Vice President for Academic Affairs who is 
seeking to ensure that Academic Program Coordinators are aware of their specific 
responsibilities in the oversight of their degree programs. The contract clearly delineates the 
work of the Program Coordinators from that of the Deans and Associate Deans and includes a 
Full-time Faculty Release Time Chart that ensures fair and equitable release time across the 
departments. As it should be, the Faculty Senate through the SEC was given the charge to draft 
this important document for the Vice President for Academic Affairs consideration. The Vice 
President for Academic Affairs, Deans, and Associate Deans were given a draft of 
the contract/evaluation matrix back in December for feedback, which will be included in the 
final draft. 
 
With the full Board's approval, we would like the contract/evaluation matrix to be implemented 
during the Fall 2017 to Spring 2018 Academic Year.  
  
Recommendations for Stackable Certificates and New Degree Program Offerings  
The need for new certificates and programs to supplement our current offerings at BCCC is 
paramount for increasing student enrollment. Stackable certificates within existing degree 
programs have proven to increase retention and completion rates for degree seeking students and 
cost the college nothing except a nominal MHEC processing fee. Here is an area where the 
faculty can make a huge contribution to the growth of the institution as the courses and 
instructors are already in place. An Ad Hoc committee was approved by the SEC in October to 
address this issue and report out at the end of the fall semester. This committee examined 
possibilities for the development of new offerings by first examining current programs and then 
determining which of these could be modified for offering a certificate within the current course 
curriculum (stackable certificates).  Second, possibilities for any brand new certificates or 
programs were also considered.  
  
Committee members met with faculty program coordinators, associate deans, and deans to 
discuss certificate and degree program possibilities in their respective areas.   

Page 2 of 3 



The findings and suggestions were presented to the SEC in December and then forwarded to the 
Vice President for Academic Affairs, Deans, and Associate Deans to consider.  
 
Release Time and Overloads  
Assigned release time and overload pay continues to be an issue across departments. This 
semester only program coordinators, Faculty Senate President and Vice President, along 
with select Faculty Senate standing committee chairs were approved for release time. The 
administration agreed that program coordinators could get one overload within the time 
guidelines and all other faculty could receive up to two overloads as stipulated in The Faculty 
Teaching Guidelines Items C, D, and E on page 52 of the Faculty Handbook. It appears that 
some associate deans are withholding overload instead of assigning "overload teaching 
assignments based upon the need and best interest of the students, department, and college" (p. 
52).  Productivity and quality work are enhanced through incentives and fair compensation.  I am 
aware of the cost that the College incurs for a single faculty when an adjunct has to be paid to 
cover classes that would have otherwise been taught by a faculty on release time. It is time to 
revise the policy on release time and overload pay to ensure efficiency, more targeted resource 
allocation, and fair compensation.  
 
Faculty Senate American Education Week Faculty Luncheon 
The Faculty Senate hosted its first American Education Week Faculty Luncheon on Friday, 
November 11, 2016, where we honored our BCCC faculty for their service to the College and 
students. Forty-six faculty attended the event hosted by the Faculty Affairs Committee under the 
leadership of Faculty Affairs Committee Chair Dr. Edna Street-Jones and her committee 
members: Mr. D. FitzGerald Smith, Professor Latonia Moss, Dr. Natalilya Reznichenko, and 
Professor Shannon Stiffler. 
 
It is my hope that this will be an annual event of the Faculty Senate hosted every year during 
American Education Week. Great work went into ensuring that this event was befitting of our 
talented and committed BCCC faculty who deserve nothing less than the best. In addition to an 
excellent meal catered by ROUGE Fine Catering, each faculty received a notebook portfolio in a 
black case as a thank you gift. Administrators also attended the luncheon and shared greetings. 
The faculty listed below received special honors for their proven leadership, scholarship, 
commitment to the core values of teaching excellence, and mentorship. 
 
Professor Linda Benjamin     Professor Ed Jackson                   Dr. Malathi Radhakrishnan 
Professor Lorraine Brown     Dr. Kathleen Kennedy                 Dr. Boyd Servio-Mariano 
Professor Theron Coleman   Dr. Shawn Lane                            Professor Jà Hon Vance 
Professor Angelique Cook-Hayes      Dr. Yun Liu                      Professor Cortez Walker 
Professor Terry Doty            Dr. Rose Monroe                           Dr. Karen Shallenberger 
Dr. Katana L. Hall                                   Professor Frederick Paraskouvakis 
Professor Charmaine Holt                        Professor Naesea Price 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Prof. Edward Ennels 
President of the Faculty Senate 

Page 3 of 3 Back to Top 



 

TAB 7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  



 

 

 
 

PUBLIC 
PRESENTATIONS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD AGENDA 
TAB 7 – ACTION  
JANUARY 24, 2017 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TAB 8 



 

 
 
 
 

  

BOARD AGENDA 
TAB 8 - INFORMATION 
JANUARY 24, 2017 

 

NO COLLEGE 
POLICIES 



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

TAB 9 



 
 

FACULTY REQUEST FOR SABBATICAL LEAVE 
 

Dr. Tonja L. Ringgold, Vice President for Academic Affairs/ALO 
 

The following request for sabbatical leave is made on behalf of Dr. Solomon Iyobosa Omo-Osagie, II. 
Pertinent information relating to this request is noted below: 
 
Name of Applicant: Dr. Solomon Iyobosa Omo-Osagie, II 

 

Date Hired: March 16, 1998 
 

Department: Education, Social and Behavioral Sciences 
 

Teaching Area: History, Political Science, and Theology 
 

Degrees Earned: PhD – History, Morgan State University – May 2007 
MA – Theology, St. Mary’s Seminary & University of Maryland – May 2007 
MA – Political Science, Bowling Green State University – August 1994 
BS – Social Science, Coppin State University – May 1993 
 

Occupational Experience: American and African American History, World History, Public Policy, 
Politics/Government, and Old and New Testament Theology. 
 

Start and Completion Dates for Sabbatical Request: Start: August 2017 
End: December 2017 
 

Purpose of Sabbatical: To conduct research on a new book tentatively entitled “While in the 
Wilderness:  Essays on Empowerment, Perseverance, and Hope.”  This 
book will require a significant amount of field research travel and time.  Dr. 
Solomon Iyobosa Omo-Osagie, II, plans to spend time in the wilderness in the 
west coast of the United States to bette4r amplify and merge the theoretical 
premise of the book with practical realities of a wilderness encounter.  Dr. 
Omo-Osagie contends that “Wilderness, as applied in theology, is often used 
as a metaphor in relating the struggles that people have when they feel that 
their lives are at a standstill.  That feeling remains only for a period.  The 
change that comes thereafter is divine providence rooted in reaffirming hope 
and faith and belief in the Sacred Text full of empowering declarations that 
lead to perseverance that produces hope.”  Spending time in the wilderness 
will further enhance the objective of the book. 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the Board of Trustees approve Dr. Solomon 
Iyobosa OmoOsagie, II’s request for sabbatical for the period of August 2017 to December 2017. 
 

BOARD AGENDA 
TAB 9 – ACTION 
JANUARY 24, 2017 





















TAB 10 















BOARD AGENDA 
TAB 10 - INFORMATION 
JANUARY 24, 2017 

ENROLLMENT REPORT 



ENROLLMENT REPORT 
Dr. Marguerite Weber 

Vice President for Student Affairs - Student Affairs Division (SA) 

As of January 19, 2017, for spring 2017, we have enrolled 3,071 credit students 
compared to 3,324 (-8%) in spring 2016. 

When reviewing enrollment on a daily basis, it is important to note the following key 
factors.  

• Most importantly, variances may occur on a daily basis due to differences
in the timing of the purge processes.

• There is not one census date. Each session within a term has a unique 20-
percent or census date: Accelerated I, 16- week, 12-week, and Accelerated II
each have a 20-percent date.

• Unduplicated credit headcount enrollment is reported to MHEC five times
throughout the year.

o October 17 and March 15: “Opening Enrollment” for fall and spring,
respectively.

o November 15 and April 1: Enrollment Information System (EIS) for fall and
spring, respectively.

o October 1: Annual Unduplicated Headcount for the prior fiscal year (as
part of the Performance Accountability Report [PAR]).

o For a given semester, the EIS is the source for the final number.
o For a fiscal year, the number published in the PAR is the final number.

BCCC AGENDA 
TAB 10 – INFORMATION 
(REVISED) JANUARY 24, 2017 



 
 
Short-term Initiatives to grow registration of new students 
• Post cards- 10,000 announcing General Registration were sent out during the winter 

break 
• Call Center – Auto Calls and Emails for General Registration 
• Pre Drop list is sent to the call center daily for students who registered with no 

payment arrangements 
• Enoch Pratt Library- 1200 Schedule booklets were delivered to 22 Baltimore City 

Branches: 
• In response to a request from City Schools, we developed a “Program Cost 

Comparison between BCCC and For-Profit Institutions” to provide students with 
information concerning affordability of work-ready certificate programs 

• Work with Baltimore City Public Schools System on expanding on-site 
ACCUPLACER testing and communicating learning opportunities at BCCC through 
Baltimore’s Promise and the College and Career Readiness Network. 

Short-term initiatives to improve retention of current students 
• We reformed our support for students who commit minor infractions of the BCCC 

Student Code of Conduct with an eye on ensuring that the students get what they 
need to make academic progress.  Beginning this spring, students can engage in a 
Restorative Justice process that emphasizes repairing the harm caused or revealed 
by violations.    

• Improving the general registration experience to focus on college completion and 
career readiness planning.  We implemented a process for students to use key pads 
to enter their ID numbers when they meet with advisors.  This process eliminates 
bottle necks in getting academic programs printed. 

What we’re launching in the Spring to address retention and recruitment: 



1. Deliver more intentional college completion planning from pre-matriculation through 
graduation 
• Integrate financial literacy with personal resource management (money, time, 

health, relationships) and embed these concepts as explicit co-curricular learning 
outcomes throughout the first year experience. 

• Collaborate with academic affairs in developing a completion and career 
readiness planning co-curriculum that complements curricular efforts. 

2. Ensure that the student experience addresses the needs and expectations of today’s 
students 
• More integration of advising across the student experience through the advising 

milestones. 
• Smart use of technology and social media – differentiated to serve different types 

of learners. 
Specific initiatives include these: 
1. Refocus Student Affairs activities on supporting students’ college completion efforts. 

Activities that are not clearly and demonstrable associated with connecting students 
in meaningful ways to the BCCC community, ensuring that they feel well taken care 
of and that their needs are heard and made our priority, and/or strengthening 
students’ hope that they can do well here and that doing well here will support them 
in their career and transfer goals will be re-evaluated. 

• Throughout the Spring semester, each Student Affairs unit will collaborate on 
how to monitor their unit’s contribution to building enrollments and to the 
student experience.  Together, these measures will form a Student Affairs 
dashboard to monitor to support decisions concerning specific initiatives. 

2. Monitor students’ completion behaviors rates (i.e., completing admissions and 
registration processes, credits accumulated/attempted in the first semester, early 
registration for the subsequent semester, completing general education, etc.) to 
identify the highest attrition points.  Examine those processes for ways to strengthen 
students’ abilities to navigate processes and refine processes and communications 
as necessary. 

• By the end of Spring semester, each office will have an attrition-prevention 
initiative in place to improve student retention at each of these transition 
points. 

3. Forge a structural connection between the Student Success Center and the Career 
Center, including cross-training and staff sharing to develop practices to support 
college completion/career literacy.   

• Activities that are not clearly and demonstrable associated with these 
outcomes will be re-evaluated. 

4. Develop specific support systems related to adult learners who manage school, work 
and family responsibilities.    

• Share findings to inform scheduling and other college processes that impact 
students. 



TAB 11 
 



HR Active Search List As of January 13, 2017      

Div PIN # Position Search Committee 
Chair

Date(s) 
posted

Status
11/18/2016

Status
1/13/2017

1 AA 66821 Assistant Professor, Cyber 
Security 

Dr. Yohannes 
Weldegiorgis  07/21/2016 Search Committee is Screening Search Committee is Screening 

New Applicants

2 AA 76584 Associate Dean of the Business 
and Technology Department Linda Benjamin 3/23/2016 Search Committee is Screening On Hold

3 AA 66845 Assistant Professor of Dental 
Hygiene Annette Russell 3/2/2016 Search Committee is Screening Search Committee is Screening

4 AA 69254 Assistant Professor of 
Respiratory Care James Dyett 5/13/2016 Search is Open Search is Open

5 AA 66715 Associate Dean Karen Shallenberger 1/12/2017 N/A Search is Open

6 B&F 66986 Sr. Budget Analyst Michelle Williams 1/8/2016 Search Committee is Screening Search Reopened

7 B&F 66978 Sr. Grants Accountant Dr. Michelle 
Towson 10/26/2015 Search Reopened 1st Interviews Being Scheduled

8 B&F 66639 Director of Facilities and 
Management Planning Dr. Maria Cazabon 7/21/2016 1st Interviews Scheduled 2nd Interviews Scheduled

9 B&F 66655 Director of Public Safety Jeff White 7/21/2016 Offer Extended, Pending 
Acceptance Selection Made, PAR Processing

10 IAMR 66665 Grants Specialist Vanessa Bell 9/16/2016 Search Committee is Screening Search Committee is Screening 
New Applicants

11 IAMR 66946 Senior Research Analyst Diana Zilberman 12/2/2016 N/A Search Committee is Screening

12 IAMR 66838 Marketing Administrator Daviedra Saulsberry 12/20/2016 N/A Search Committee is Screening

13 IAMR 67013 Senior Staff Accountant Vanessa Bell 12/20/2016 N/A 1st Interviews Scheduled

14 SA 66669 Registrar Dr. Enyinnaya 
Iweha 12/15/2016 N/A Search Committee is Screening

15 SA 66903 Financial Aid Specialist Carla Price 1/5/2017 N/A Search Committee is Screening

16 PO 66802 Chief Information Officer Bryan Perry 7/21/2016 Search Reopened 2nd Interviews Scheduled

17 PO 72350 Telecom & Communications 
Specialist Maria Cazabon 9/22/2016 Search Committee is Screening Search Reopened

18 PO 66916 HR Compliance Coordinator Michelle Williams 1/6/2017 N/A Search Committee is Screening

BOARD AGENDA
TAB 11 - INFORMATION
JANUARY 24, 2017


	BALTIMORE CITY COMMUNITY COLLEGE
	Active Search List 1-13-17.2.pdf
	VACANCY RPT

	Unapproved Board of Trustees Minutes  November 22 2016.pdf
	BALTIMORE CITY COMMUNITY COLLEGE
	BOARD OF TRUSTEES
	III. Public Presentations
	A. Dr. May acknowledged VP Calvin Harris for presentation of the Finance Report for the first quarter for the College, WBJC, and Bookstore.
	VP Harris reported that;
	 In regards to the 2017 spending reduction, the State Board of Public Works approved an $82 million budgetary spending reduction. Of that total, BCCC is required to reduce spending by $750,000.
	 Fund balance is not expected to be significant relief for any financial challenges. With few exceptions, operating budgetary funds will have to be the primary funding source to support the College.
	Board Questions:
	Dr. Gabriel
	 Are all of the positions filled in the B & F area?
	o All but one position has been filled.
	 Automobile/Boat donations, have we made any money from this type of donations?
	o The radio station implemented a program of this type and have received some donations. The college has not implemented a program of this type.  At present, VP Harris was not certain as to the number of vehicles and/or boats that have been donated to...
	Dr. Yeary
	 In regards to the colleges spending are there a plans to offset the college’s deficit?
	o Adjustments vary by area and we have made some hard adjustments to travel and equipment purchasing. We strongly encourage each division to stay within the budget that was allotted to them in the designated areas/objects.
	 In regards to enrollment, do you anticipate that this deficit may require the Boards consideration in regards to tuition, fees, or any other items in the near term?
	o We have built in some soft enrollment numbers in anticipation of budget adjustments; however, this question cannot be completely answered due to the timing of the year. We will try to consider all and any alternatives that can be considered.
	**The full financial report can be reviewed under Tab 7.
	B. Mission and Vision Statements (ACTION)
	Dr. May introduced Dr. Nassim Ebrahimi to report on the revision Mission and Vision Statement and the Strategic Plan.
	Mission and Vision Revision – Action Item
	Final Draft Mission Statement:
	Baltimore City Community College provides quality, affordable, and accessible education serving a diverse population, changing lives, and building communities.
	Final Draft Vision Statement:
	Baltimore City Community College is an innovator in providing quality career pathways and educational opportunities for a diverse population of learners to meet the challenges of an ever-changing competitive workforce and environment.
	VP Ebrahimi reported on the
	FY 2016 Year-End Summary
	Goal 1 – Student Success
	The measures for the four objectives related to Student Success (Goal 1) are all 85% or more to target, with five showing an increase from FY 2015. Please note, FY 2018 targets for three of the measures were adjusted to align with the updated and Boar...
	Goal 2 – Community, Business and Industry and Education Partnerships
	One of the three measures for the 5 objectives related to Community, Business and Industry and Education Partnerships (Goal 2) has met the FY 2018 target. Additionally, partnerships have increased over 70%.
	Goal 3 – Institutional Sustainability
	The six objectives related to Institutional Sustainability (Goal 3) continue to be an area of emphasis for the College. The refreshed Strategic Enrollment Management and Retention Plan, new Facilities Master Plan, and ongoing professional development ...
	commitment to continued improvement.
	Goal 4 – Technology
	Nearly all of the measures for the four objectives related to Technology (Goal 4) have increased from FY 2015, with two exceeding the FY 2018 target.
	Trustee Tildon inquired regarding sustainability and climate survey data.  VP Ebrahimi responded that she will require assistance in this area as the instruments used from a third party skewed the results reflected on the scorecards included in this r...
	Dr. Yeary inquired as to what the impact could be as a result of the information submitted to the JCR Team for their report.  VP Ebrahimi responded that our report needs to stand alone as well as the JCR’s report.
	Trustee Hutchins inquired as to if the targets and benchmarks were either good or bad.  VP Ebrahimi responded that some targets/benchmarking will be met before others; however, it will serve as a template for future strategic planning.
	IV.PRESIDENT’S REPORT *
	UPDATES
	A. Enrollment
	Dr. Marguerite Weber presented the Enrollment Report.
	Dr. Weber stated that the enrollment from last fall was down about 6 percent.
	Dr. Yeary inquired as to what contributes to the enrollment decline? Dr. Weber responded that she is looking at patterns and the melt (students that stated that they would enroll but did not), to gauge and develop strategies meet the students’ needs t...
	Dr. Weber stated that as we review patterns of the melt we will be able to close the gap and increase enrollment.  Melt also results in students finding programs at other institutions, poor customer service, career pathways.
	Dr. Southall inquired as to if the students that did not enroll were contacted to establish why they did not enroll.  Ms. Rochester responded that communication with these students are done.  Dr. Southall asked if these were personal calls or robo ca...
	B.  Middle States Update Report
	Dr. Ringgold reported that the Middle States Commission accepted the Monitoring report and the next evaluation is scheduled for 2023-2024.
	C. Active Search List
	Board Chair Yeary stated that the Active Search List as information provided in the Board Book.
	Closing Remarks:
	I. MOTION FOR ADJOURNMENT
	IX. NEXT MEETING
	ATTENDANCE:
	Dr. Gordon F. May, President
	Others Present:
	CLOSED SESSION




